
LICENSING COMMITTEE 
Tuesday, 20 January 2015 at 7.30pm 

Council Chamber, Civic Centre 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any matters on 

the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 3) 
 
 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2014. 

 
4. Matters Arising   
 
 (a) Update on Use of Bus Lanes in Harlow. 

 
(b) Update on Quarterly Reporting of Statistical Data from NHS. 
 
(b) Any other matters arising from the meeting held on 25 November 

2014. 
 

5. Written Questions and Petitions   
 
 To receive any question and petitions in accordance with Council 

procedure rules. 
 

6. Committee Work Plan  (Page 4) 
 
7. Control of Unauthorised Advertising: Update  (Pages 5 - 6) 
 
8. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Fee Proposals  (Pages 7 - 

14) 
 
9. Compliance Standard for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 

Test Station Tender  (Pages 15 - 47) 
 
10. References from Other Committees   
 
 Any references arising from meetings held after the publication of this 

agenda will be circulated separately. 
 

Public Document Pack



11. Matters of Urgent Business   
 
 Such other business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 

considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances to 
be specified in the minutes. 
 



 

MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 

 

25 November 2014 7.30pm  - 7.49pm 
 

 

PRESENT 

 

Committee Members 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop (Chairman) 
Councillor Janet Doyle 
Councillor Tony Hall 
Councillor Dennis Palmer 
Councillor Edna Stevens 
 

 
Officers 

Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager 
Dimple Roopchand, Assistant Solicitor 
Jo Maskell, Governance Support Officer 
 

 
APOLOGIES  
Councillor Jacqui Cross 
Councillor Nick Churchill 
Councillor Tony Durcan 
Councillor Bill Pryor 
Councillor Emma Toal 
 
 
 
24. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
None. 
 

25. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 
2015 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
26. MATTERS ARISING  

 
(a) Vehicle Age Condition for Hackney Carriage Issues 

(Minute 20 Refers) 
 
Cabinet had agreed this Committee’s recommendation to 
discontinue the policy which had required Hackney Carriage 
vehicles to be replaced once they were 12 years old. 
 

Public Document Pack

1

Agenda Item 3



In view of this, it was noted that standards for vehicle testing were 
being reviewed to ensure that older vehicles complied with 
emissions conditions.  The review was due to be completed by the 
end of the municipal year. 
 

RESOLVED that the review of conditions for compliance 
testing is reported to a future meeting of this Committee. 

 
27. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS  

 
None. 
 

28. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN  

 
The Committee received its proposed Work Plan for 2014/15 and 
commented on future items for the Committee’s consideration.  
 
It was noted that Essex County Council were in the process of amending 
signage to allow Private Hire vehicles to use bus lanes in Harlow.  A report 
would be submitted to this Committee once this had been completed.  In 
the meantime, Private Hire vehicles were precluded from using these bus 
lanes. 
 
The Committee was concerned to note that there was currently a 
proliferation of people employed by charitable organisations approaching 
shoppers in the town centre for charity donations (so called ‘chuggers’).  
As there was no current legislation to ration their numbers, the 
Environment and Licensing Manager undertook to contact the 
organisations involved in the practice, in the expectation that they would 
be sympathetic to the Committee’s views and limit the numbers voluntarily.   
 
Given the link between alcohol licensing and demands on local hospitals 
from alcohol consumption, there had been a standing item on the Work 
Plan to receive quarterly reports on statistical data from the NHS (Minute 
40, 22/1/13 refers).  However, since the Committee had received an initial 
presentation from a public health specialist, there had been structural 
changes within the NHS leading to a break in communication with the 
Council.  The Environment and Licensing Manager would investigate the 
feasibility of reinstating appropriate links and report the outcome to the 
January meeting of this Committee.       
 

RESOLVED that  
 

(a) the Committee’s Work Plan is noted; 
 
(b) the ‘Use of Bus Lanes in Harlow’ report is allocated to the 

January 2015 meeting of this Committee; 
 

2



(c) the standing item ‘Quarterly Reporting of Statistical Data 
from NHS’ is allocated to the January 2015 meeting of this 
Committee. 

 
29. FOOD SAFETY ACT 1990 SERVICE PLAN 2014/15  

 
The Committee received a report on the proposed Food Service Plan for 
2014/15, which was an Environmental Health team plan to ensure 
compliance with the Food Safety Act 1990.  
 
The Committee recorded its appreciation for all the hard work and efforts 
of the staff to ensure that, despite being a small team, food safety 
safeguards continued to be provided for residents. 
 

RESOLVED that the Food Service Plan 2014/15, as presented at 
Appendix 1 of the report, is noted and approved. 

 
30. HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING FEE 

PROPOSALS  

 
The Committee received a report on proposed increases to the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire licensing fees, which would be published for 
consultation before being submitted to Full Council for consideration.  It 
was noted that the current fees and proposed fees in Appendix 1 of the 
report should have been headed up as being for 2014/15 and 2015/16 
respectively; and that the final band for Private Hire Operator basic and  
vehicle licence fees should be for “thirty vehicles and above”. 
 
This Committee would consider any representations received by the end 
of the consultation period, prior to recommending the fees to be set at the 
Council meeting in February 2015. 
 

RESOLVED that  
 
(a) the advertisement of the proposed fees for Hackney Carriage 

and Private Hire licensing for 2015/16, as set out in Appendix 
1 of the report, is approved; 

 
(b) in the absence of any representation, it is Recommended to 

Council that the proposed fees set out in Appendix 1 of the 
report (as amended) be adopted. 

 
31. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

32. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  

 
None. 

 CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE 

3



LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2014/15       
 

   

24 March 2015   

o  Update the Street Trading Licensing Policy  
         to Take Account of Revised Legislation  
         

Michael Pitt 
 
 

o  Review of the Policy for Charity Collections 
(subject to publication of government guidance         
25, 12/11/13)  

Michael Pitt 
 
 

o  Impact of Forthcoming Deregulation Act on 
Licensing Act 2003 and Hackney Carriage 
& Private Hire Regulation 

Michael Pitt 
 
 
 

Standing Items  

o Licensing Sub-Committee Decisions 
(Annual report to first meeting in the municipal year 
6,9/7/13) 

Michael Pitt 
 
 

 

4

Agenda Item 6



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 20JANUARY 2015 
 

TITLE: CONTROL OF UNAUTHORISED 
ADVERTISING: UPDATE 
 

LEAD OFFICER(S): 
 

MICHAEL PITT ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Committee note the current position in relation to this issue as set out in 

the report. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. At its meeting of 13 March 2014 the Council’s Cabinet resolved that the 

Council would pursue an approach to unauthorised advertising in the 
highway using delegated powers under the Highways Act 1980. Cabinet 
further resolved that in respect of its practice of licensing portable 
advertisements on land that it owns in the Town Centre, it would adopt a 
policy of minimising avoidable street advertising, that would result in the 
licensing of “A”-boards on such land being phased out by the end of March 
2015. 
 

2. This report advises Licensing Committee of the current position in relation to 
these matters. 

 
PHASING-OUT OF “A” BOARD LICENSING ON LAND OWNED BY THE 
COUNCIL IN THE TOWN CENTRE 

3. The policy adopted by Cabinet on 13 March 2014had the effect that from 1 
April 2014 any new licence issued would expire on 31 March 2015. Where a 
licence would last for a period shorter that one year, a pro rata licence fee 
would be charged. All Licences would then expire at the same time on  
31 March 2015.  
 

4. Since 1 April 2014 the Licensing Team has advised all existing licence 
holders and any businesses enquiring about licenses for new A-boards about 
this policy, and has applied the policy in respect of any licences issued.    
 

5. There are at the time of writing 11 A-board licences extant, which will expire 
on 31 March 2015.From that date no A-boards will be sanctioned by a licence 
issued by the Council. 

5

Agenda Item 7



CONTROL OF UNAUTHORISEDADVERTISING SIGNAGE 

6. The policy adopted by Cabinet on 13 March 2014 was that, subject to formal 
approval by Essex County Council as the Highways Authority, Harlow Council 
would use powers in Section 132 of the Highways Act 1980, to engage a 
suitable contractor to remove from time to time signs and similar items placed 
on the highway without permission. 
 

7. A communications initiative would give a reasonable opportunity for 
unauthorised signs to be permanently removed, while also publicising the 
process to reinforce its deterrent value. 
 

8. Priority areas for attention would be identified in advance by canvassing Ward 
Councillors and by monitoring reports from members of the public. 
 

9. Implementation of this policy, which lies beyond the remit of the Licensing 
Committee and Licensing team, is dependent on the necessary staffing 
resources being available in the Council’s Properties and Facilities Team. 
However,it is anticipated that arrangements will be made to implement this 
policy with effect from April 2015.  

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Regeneration (includes Sustainability) 

Contained within the report. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Regeneration 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
To be reported at the meeting. 

Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
Housing 

None specific. 

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

The Council’s proposals in relation to unauthorised signage are expected to 
assist people with disabilities by reducing on-street “clutter”. 
Author: Michael Pitt, Environment & Licensing Manager for graham 
Branchett, Chief Operating Officer 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
None specific – report for noting. 

Author: Dimple Roopchand, Assistant Solicitor on behalf of  Brian Keane, 
Interim Head of Governance 
 

6



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 20JANUARY 2015 
 

TITLE: HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 
LICENSINGFEE PROPOSALS 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS:  

PAULINE WRIGHT, SENIOR 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER (01279) 
446148; NORAH NOLAN ENVIRONMENTAL 
HEALTH MANAGER (01279) 446132 

  
  
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Licensing Committee recommend to Full Council the fees proposed at 

Appendix 1 to be charged with effect from 1 April 2015 for the purposes of 
Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Licensing for adoption as part of the 
annual fees and charges setting process. 
 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. Licensing Committee considered proposed fees for Private Hire Operator and 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver and Vehicle Licensing for 2015/16 
at its meeting of 25 November 2014.A formal representation on behalf of the 
Harlow Private Hire Association in relation to Operator and Vehicle Licensing 
fee proposals has been received: the representation is reproduced at 
Appendix 1. 
 

2. To implement the fees proposed the Council must consider the 
representation. If Licensing Committee is satisfied having considered the 
representation and having regard to the matters set out in the report below 
that the fees proposed are appropriate it may recommend them to full Council 
for inclusion within the annual fees and charges setting process for 
implementation with effect from 01 April 2015. The matters raised in the 
representation are dealt with in turn below. 

 
REASON FOR INCREASING FEES 

3. The Harlow Private Hire Association appears to understand that the Council’s 
reason for proposing a fee increase is only that it has the power to do so 

7

Agenda Item 8



under the legislation and that it is not reasonable to do so in the current 
circumstances. It is Council policy that fees and charges are reviewed 
annually having regard to cost and other relevant factors.The Council’s 
reasons for increasing the fees are that the Council’s costs have increased 
over the course of the year and the proposed fee increases are in line with 
the advised increase in costs. 
 

4. In principle, the legislation permits recovery of cost.However in fact the full 
cost of providing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing services 
exceeds the income by some margin.While it will not be possible in practice 
for fee income to exactly match cost in any one year, as has been recognised 
by the Courts, to fail to reflect increased costs by increased fees would 
therefore require a higher degree of subsidy from public funds, and no 
available source of public funding has been identified.For these reasons it is 
reasonable to increase the fees in line with costs. 
 

PROPOSED EFFICIENCIES 

5. The Harlow Private Hire Association mention a number of suggestions that 
they feel would reduce costs. While helpful suggestions are welcome, any 
marginal efficiency would in the first instance be used to decrease the extent 
to which the process was subsided by public funds and so the suggestions do 
not represent a strong argument for failing to increase fees in line with costs. 
The suggestions are however discussed below, as they are set out in the 
representation. 
 

6. On-line application and payment: the Licensing Team would welcome the 
facility to handle applications as far as is practicable on-line. The team does 
not itself have the resources to develop a secure bespoke solution for this 
purpose. Corporately, progress is being made towards increasing the 
proportion of on-line transactions and the aspiration is to make on-line 
transaction available for all business.  However the Council quite reasonably 
is focussing on the transactions that represent the greatest volume of 
business. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing represents a 
relatively small area of Council business and so on-line transactions are not 
yet available.  
 

7. Issuing longer licenses. There are a number of issues to consider. For 
example, vehicle licences are required to be annual by the law; annual driver 
licence renewal provides the opportunity for annual review which is beneficial; 
the Council would still aim to recover the costs of licensing and so a longer 
licence would be more expensive than an annual licence so the saving would 
be fairly modest; transition to longer licence periods would require significant 
review which represents a cost in itself. Review is not opposed in principle: 
however proposed legislation contains provisions for longer licence periods to 
become the national norm, and it is therefore considered appropriate to await 

8



the implementation of that legislation to ensure that any review process is 
conducted only once, and that the licensing approach developed is consistent 
with the forthcoming law. 
 

8. Printing in black and white.Licences are printed in colour because this permits 
a colour photograph of the driver which is welcomed in feedback. Colour 
bands on the licences help distinguish between driver vehicle and operator 
licences. This is helpful but though essential. The costs involved are marginal 
as cartridges currently last well over six months. Officers will however,subject 
to available time, consider whether the software can be amended to reduce 
the size of colour bands to reflect the suggestion. 
 

9. An MTM study of Officers’ tasks. Methods-Time Measurement is a specific 
process developed for well-defined repetitive tasks in manufacturing and 
engineering. It is not particularly well suited to administrative tasks; it would 
prove a very costly operation in itself for which no resources are available and 
is not therefore realistic.Some review is expected to be necessary however 
on implementation of the above-mentioned legislation. 
 

CHARGES FOR DOOR SIGNS   

10. The proposed increase in the vehicle licence fee takes no specific account of 
the cost of door signs. The proposal is to increase the vehicle fee by 2% 
rounded to the nearest pound as with other fees.  
 

DRIVER LICENCE FEES   

11. Fees for Hackney Carriage Drivers and for Private Hire Drivers are the same 
in the proposals at Appendix 2. The fee for a new driver in each case is 
greater because there is more work involved in issuing a licence for the first 
time than in renewing one.  
 

TRANSFER FEES   

12. The Council does not charge for vehicle transfers. There is no proposal for a 
transfer fee in the proposals at Appendix 2. 
 

REPLACEMENT ITEMS   

13. There is an argument for charging for replacement of lost or damaged plates 
and badges for example, because this underlines the importance of looking 
after these significant items properly. However the trade has in general been 
observant of this issue and as an accommodation it is proposed that no 
specific charge be made for replacement items subject to this remaining the 
case.No charge for replacement items is therefore shown in the proposals at 
Appendix 2.    

9



OPERATOR FEES   

14. A one-person Operator is not required to pay four licence fees: however it is 
accepted that for historical reasons the way in which the fees and charges are 
set out is not simple to interpret. The presentation has been revised in the 
proposals attached at Appendix 2. 
 

PROPOSALS 

15. It is proposed that fees be increased in line with costs; not doing so will create 
a budget pressure not accounted for in the Council’s financial planning. 
However where it is considered reasonable at this time to accommodate 
matters raised on representation, this has been reflected in the proposed fees 
as set out at Appendix 2. It is proposed that the Committee recommend the 
proposals at Appendix 2 to Full Council to be adopted as part of the annual 
fees and charges setting process for implementation with effect from 1 April 
2015.  
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
Regeneration (includes Sustainability) 

None specific beyond those contained in the report. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Regeneration 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
As set out in the original report to the Licensing Committee in November, 
increasing fees in line with Council costs will avoid additional budget pressure in 
the forthcoming financial year. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
Housing 

None specific. 

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

Properly administering the regulatory regime protects vulnerable residents in 
particular from potential risks. Recovery of costs within practicable limits enables 
the Council to do this. 
Author: Michael Pitt Environment and Licensing Manager forGraham 
Branchett Chief Operating Officer 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
The Council must have due regard to the representation received in order to 
minimise the risk of legal challenge to the Council. 
Author: Brian Keane, Interim Head of Governance 

 

10



APPENDIX 1 

 

From: tony foley 

Sent: 15 December 2014 08:22 

To: rmossop1; neilbetteridge; jerry; Pauline Wright 

Subject:Fwd: Good morning Mr Pitt 

 
 
 
Sent from my iPad 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: tony foley 
Date: 15 December 2014 07:21:08 GMT 
To: Michael Pitt <michael.pitt@harlow.gov.uk> 
Cc: Norah Nolan <norah.nolan@harlow.gov.uk>,  "maggie.hulcoop@harlow.gov.uk" 
<maggie.hulcoop@harlow.gov.uk> 
Subject:Good morning Mr Pitt 

At the recent Private Hire committee meeting a decision was taken to challenge the licence 

fees increase submitted to Novembers Licensing Committee for the following reasons. 

 

GENERAL. 

There were several errors in the proposals over and above the two that were amended at 

that meeting. 

 

The reason that the Licensing Department give to justify the increases is that the Local 

Government (miscellaneous provisions) Act 1976 allows them to do so. 

However this Act also states that conditions have to be reasonable. 

The trade believe that the “Because we can” attitude is unreasonable. 

For this we feel that the Licensing Office should present accurate and justification for any 

fees increase to the next licensing meeting to allow scrutiny so that constructive 

consultation can take place. 

 

This trade over recent years have suggested  ways in an attempt to reduce the costs of the 

Administration and Issue of licenses for example 

On line application and payments 

Extending certain fees for longer than the current 12 months’ 

Using Black and White cartridges 

An MTM study of officers tasks. 

It appears officers are more than ready to discuss increases than efficiency improvements. 

 

FEES 

Last year the council ceased the charge being imposed for the issue of permanent door 

signs, 

have these charges been included in the proposed driver licence fee? 

 

Why are there 4 different driver licence fees? 

11



 

The charge for a vehicle transfer can only be described as extortionate, 

Council costs an officers time at £45 per hour, this exercise take a maximum of 15 minutes, 

how can a charge of £90+ be justified? 

 

Any increase in replacement items is unwarranted as at meeting earlier this year officers 

stated they had “cupboard full” of these items. 

Why have the council in the past 4 years increased these fees by 10% despite not having to 

purchase stock? 

 

Why does a 1 person operator pay 4 licence fees? 

 

These objections would have little impact on the departments overall budget and could 

easily be absorbed by good fiscal controls. 

 

For the past 10 years, there have been 9 accumulative increase in fees 

this is despite an increase in driver applications so the actual increase is higher than the 

percentage given. 

 

Regards 

 

Tony Foley (Chair)  RobMossop (Secretary)( 

 

Sent from Windows Mail 

 

 

12



APPENDIX 2 

 (all fees include VAT where applicable) 

    

 2014/2015   

 Current Fee  Proposed 

Fee 

    

 £.p  £.p 

    

    

HC & PH Drivers Licence    

New Driver 126.00  129.00 

Renewal 109.00  111.00 

HC Vehicle Licence    

New Vehicle 324.00  330.00 

Renewal 303.00  309.00 

PH Vehicle Licence    

New Vehicle 298.00  304.00 

Renewal 278.00  284.00 

Transfer of Vehicle Licence 0.00  0.00 

    

Private Hire Operator Licence Fee - Basic Fee (Plus number of vehicles operated fee to be added 
- see number of vehicle fee below) 

Band A - up to 2 vehicles 123.00  125.50 

Band B -  3 to 5 vehicles 190.00  193.50 

Band C - 6 to 10 vehicles 249.00  254.00 

Band D - 11 to 15 vehicles 314.00  320.00 

Band E - 16 to 20 vehicles 370.00  377.00 

Band F - 21 to 25 vehicles 427.00  435.00 

band G - over 26 vehicles 483.00  490.00 

    

Private Hire Operator Licence Fees  -  Number of vehicles operated fee   

    

one vehicle 63.00  64.00 

two vehicles 126.00  128.00 

    

three vehicles 189.00  192.00 

four vehicles 252.00  256.00 

five vehicles 315.00  320.00 

    

six vehicles 378.00  384.00 

seven vehicles 441.00  448.00 

eight vehicles 504.00  512.00 

nine vehicles 567.00  576.00 

ten vehicles 630.00  640.00 

    

eleven vehicles 693.00  704.00 

13



twelve vehicles 756.00  768.00 

thirteen vehicles 819.00  832.00 

fourteen vehicles 882.00  896.00 

fifteen vehicles 945.00  960.00 

    

sixteen vehicles 1,008.00  1,024.00 

seventeen vehicles 1,071.00  1,088.00 

eighteen vehicles 1,134.00  1,152.00 

nineteen vehicles 1,197.00  1,216.00 

twenty vehicles 1,260.00  1,280.00 

    

twenty one vehicles 1,323.00  1,344.00 

twenty two vehicles 1,386.00  1,408.00 

twenty three vehicles 1,449.00  1,472.00 

twenty four vehicles 1,512.00  1,536.00 

twenty five vehicles 1,575.00  1,600.00 

    

twenty six vehicles 1,638.00  1,664.00 

twenty seven vehicles 1,701.00  1,728.00 

twenty eight vehicles 1,764.00  1,792.00 

twenty nine vehicles 1,827.00  1,856.00 

thirty vehicles and above 1,890.00  1,920.00 

Knowledge Test    

Knowledge test 50.00  50.00 

Retest full 50.00  50.00 

Retest partial 20.00  20.00 

 

14



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 20 JANUARY 2015 
 

TITLE: COMPLIANCE STANDARD FOR HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 
TEST STATION TENDER 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  PAULINE WRIGHT SENIOR 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER (01279) 
446148 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Licensing Committee approve the proposed compliance standard document 

for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicle inspections attached at 
Appendix 3. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides for 

licensing of Hackney Carriages and Private Hire vehicles by local authorities, 
including determination of whether they are safe, mechanically sound and 
suitable for use for conveying members of the public. 
 

2. The Council requires that vehicles are tested and examined at a designated 
testing station appointed by a competitive tender process. 
 

3. To this end Harlow Council provides bidders with compliance standards 
which vehicles are expected to meet before a licence can be issued. 
 

4. The testing station contract is to be renewed in April 2015 and it is intended 
that the tender process will begin in late January 2015.  
 

5. The Licensing Team have reviewedthe documentused in tendering the 
current contract, shown at Appendix 1, and have identified a number of 
amendments to improve transparency and comprehensiveness.Certain 
vehicle requirements were previously contained only in the Council’s Scheme 
for Licensing of Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehiclesshown at 
Appendix 2. 
 

6. The relevant vehicle requirements from Appendix 2 and a revised version of 
Appendix 1 have now been drawn together to provide an updated vehicle 

15

Agenda Item 9



compliance standard. The proposed document is at Appendix 3 
 
PROPOSALS 

7. The proposed document aims to consolidate all matters currently forming the 
compliance standard. In practice there are no substantive changes to the 
standard currently in use: however the consolidated document will better 
inform those businesses interested in submitting a tender for provision of test 
station services of the Council’s requirements.  
 

8. The documentwill be made available on the Council’s website and so will be 
available to all interested parties. This will assist transparency, ensuring that 
drivers can readily see the standard against which their vehicles will be 
tested. 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
Regeneration (includes Sustainability) 

None specific. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Regeneration 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 

Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
Housing 

None specific. 

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
 

Clarifying and publishing standards is expected to assist in the administration of 
licensing functions 
Author:  Michael Pitt Environment and Licensing Manager forGraham 
Branchett Chief Operating Officer 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
An approved compliance standard document for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
vehicle inspections is necessary to improve the quality and safety of licensed 
vehicles within the district and ultimately to ensure suitability of the vehicles for their 
intended use.  By agreeing a compliance standard for Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire vehicles, the Council will ultimately reduce the risk of safety and injury 
to the public and therefore will minimise the risk of challenge to the Council” 
 
Author: Dimple Roopchand, Assistant Solicitor on behalf of Brian Keane, 
Interim Head of Governance 
 

16



APPENDIX 1 
 
 
COMPLIANCE TEST REQUIREMENTS – PRIVATE HIRE 
 
ITEM       STANDARD REQUIRED 
 
CAB ITEMS 
 
STEERING CONTROLS    MOTREGULATIONS (C & U) 
FOOT BRAKE PEDAL    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CLUTCH PEDAL     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HAND BRAKE LEVER    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WIPERS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WASHERS   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HORN       MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SPEEDOMETER     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CONDITION OF WINDSCREEN   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PANEL LIGHT AND GAUGES   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INTERIOR LIGHTS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INDICATORS & WARNING LAMP  MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
DRIVERS SEAT     MOTREGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
DRIVING MIRRORS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SEAT BELTS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
FIRE EXTINGUISHER    SEE APPENDIX A 
DRIVER AND PASSENGER FOOTWELLS SEE APPENDIX B 
POSITION OF RADIO    SEE APPENDIX B 
 
GROUND LEVEL ITEMS 
 
DOOR GLASS, LOCKS & HINGES  INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-WORKING 
CHECK STRAPS AND TRIMS   INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-WORKING 
SEATING DIMENSIONS MINIMUM OF 40CM WIDTH PER PASSENGER 
HEATING      INTACT-WORKING 
PASSENGER LIGHTING    INTACT-WORKING 
FRONT LAMPS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HEAD LAMPS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HEAD LAMP ALIGNMENT    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
STOP LAMPS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REAR LAMPS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REVERSING/FOG LAMPS   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REAR REFLECTORS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
NUMBER PLATE LAMPS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INDICATORS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SPARE WHEEL & TYRE    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS   SEE APPENDIX C 
EXTERIOR MIRRORS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
OPERATION OF SHOCK ABSORBERS  MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CONDITION OF NUMBER PLATES  MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
 
 
UNDER THE BONNET 
 

17



BATTERY SECURITY    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WIRING SECURITY    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
BRAKE PIPES AND HOSES   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
OILANDFUEL LEAKS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
EMISSION OF SMOKE    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
BONNET OPERATION    SEE APPENDIX D 
EXHAUST MANIFOLD    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
UNDER THE VEHICLE 
 
STEERING MECHANISM    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
POWER STEERING    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION SHAFTS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
STUB AXLE ASSEMBLIES   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WHEEL BEARING     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SUSPENSION     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SHOCK ABSORBERS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE CONDITION   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE CONDITION    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
EXHAUST SYSTEM    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION MOUNTINGS   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
ENGINE MOUNTINGS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
UNDER BODY 
 
CHASSIS      MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WHEELS AND TYRES    MOTREGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
TYRE TREAD     SEE APPENDIX E 
TYRE TYPE      MOTREGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
TYRE CONDITION     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
ROAD WHEELS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS  SEE APPENDIX F 
 
BRAKES TEST  
 
SERVICE BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE BALANCE   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
FLOOR AND CARPET    SEE APPENDIX G 
SEATS      SEE APPENDIX H 
INTERIOR (GENERAL)    SEE APPENDIX I 
CONDITION OF BODY    SEE APPENDIX J 
TRAILERS      SEE APPENDIX K 
ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS SEE APPENDIX L 
FOR PASSENGERS WITH DISABILITIES     
GAS CONVERSIONS    SEE APPENDIX M    
COMPLIANCE TEST EXPLANATION SHEET - PRIVATE HIRE 
 
APPENDIX A – FIRE EXTINGUISHERS 
 

18



To be fixed in position using a bracket and not carried loose in the car or boot and be readily 
available for use. Extinguisher must be manufactured to meet the requirements of BSEN3 1996. 
 
APPENDIX B – DRIVER & PASSENGER FOOTWELL/RADIO POSITION 
 
Both the driver and passenger footwells must be kept free of obstructions. The private hire radio 
must be fixed in a position outside of the footwell. If located under the driver or passenger seat it 
must be fixed into position so that it does not slide into the footwell on braking. 
 
APPENDIX C – LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The boot must be empty, clean and available for use. 
 
APPENDIX D – BONNET OPERATION 
 
The bonnet opens and closes properly and is fitted with a working safety catch. 
 
APPENDIX E – TYRE TREAD 
 
The minimum accepted tyre tread will be 2mm 
 
APPENDIX F – UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS 
 
The vehicle should be submitted for inspection in a clean condition to enable the vehicle 
inspector to carry out a full and proper inspection and examine all necessary components 
 
APPENDIX G – FLOOR COVERING 
 
The floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, tears, or serious staining. 
 
APPENDIX H – SEATS 
 
All seats, including the drivers, must be free from cuts, tears or cigarette burns, except of a very 
minor nature.  Any repairs must have been carried out in a professional and neat manner.  All 
seats, including the drivers, must be free of serious staining.  
 
Seat covers when fitted must not impede the operation of air bags. 
 
All seats should be secure and backrests should be capable of being secured in the upright 
position 
 
APPENDIX I – INTERIOR (GENERAL) 
 
All interior trim, including headlining, door panels and speakers shall be clean, complete, 
properly fitted and free from serious cuts, tears or major soiling. Door handles and widow 
winders shall be secure and operational. All fittings should be secured in a manner that 
prevents sharp edges or other hazards protruding into the passenger carrying areas. 
 
APPENDIX J – CONDITION OF BODYWORK 
 
RUST Any vehicle presented should be free from significant areas of visible 

rusting.  Although minor blemishes will not normally constitute a failure, the 
following general criteria should be followed.  Any vehicle with three or 
more visible rust patches larger than 50sq cms each should be failed.  Any 

19



vehicle with five or more rust patches each smaller than 20sq cms on any 
one panel should be failed. 

 
DENTS Any vehicle with minor dents on three or more panels where such dents are 

more than 5 cms in diameter/length should be failed. 
 
SCRATCHES  Any vehicle with unrepaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more 

panels of 5cms in length should be failed. 
 
PAINTWORK Any vehicle with panels painted in non-matching colours, or painted in 

primer, should be failed. 
 
ROOF Any vehicle with significant damage to, or unsecured, vinyl roof covering  
COVERING should be failed. 
 
ACCIDENT   Any vehicle with unrepaired bodywork damage should be failed. 
DAMAGE 
 
APPENDIX K – TRAILERS 
 
There is an appropriate attachment between the trailer and vehicle with all electrical 
connections in place.  
 
The tyres have legal tread depth, the lights are all in working order, and there is a working 
overrun braking system 
 
The trailer body is in good condition, it is fitted with a rear number plate the same as the vehicle 
it is to be towed by, and there is a warning triangle in place. 
 
APPENDIX L– ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS FOR PASSENGERS WITH 
  DISABILITIES 
 
Access ramps and hoists are fitted properly, available for use and in good working order.  
 
Wheelchair clamps and harnesses are fitted properly, available for use and in good working 
order.  
 
Fittings and fitments to be tested using a wheelchair. Any that cannot be used should be failed. 
 
APPENDIX M – GAS CONVERSIONS 
 
Specific arrangements will be put in place depending on the nature of the conversion. 
 
   
  

20



COMPLIANCE TEST REQUIREMENTS – HACKNEY CARRIAGE   
 
ITEM       STANDARD REQUIRED 
 
CAB ITEMS 
 
STEERING CONTROLS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
FOOT BRAKE PEDAL    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CLUTCH PEDAL     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HAND BRAKE LEVER    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WIPERS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WASHERS   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HORN       MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SPEEDOMETER     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CONDITION OF WINDSCREEN   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PANEL LIGHT AND GAUGES   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INTERIOR LIGHTS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INDICATORS & WARNING LAMP  MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
DRIVERS SEAT     MOTREGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
DRIVING MIRRORS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SEAT BELTS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
FIRE EXTINGUISHER    SEE APPENDIX A 
 
GROUND LEVEL ITEMS 
 
DOOR GLASS, LOCKS & HINGES  INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-WORKING 
CHECK STRAPS AND TRIMS   INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-WORKING 
COMMUNICATION WINDOW   INTACT-WORKING 
PASSENGER DOOR WARNING SYSTEM APPENDIX B 
SEATING DIMENSIONS MINIMUM OF 40CM WIDTH PER PASSENGER 
HEATING      INTACT-WORKING 
PASSENGER LIGHTING    INTACT-WORKING 
FRONT LAMPS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HEAD LAMPS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HEAD LAMP ALIGNMENT    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
STOP LAMPS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REAR LAMPS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REVERSING/FOG LAMPS   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REAR REFLECTORS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
NUMBER PLATE LAMPS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INDICATORS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SPARE WHEEL & TYRE    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U)/APPENDIX G 
LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS   SEE APPENDIX C 
EXTERIOR MIRRORS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
OPERATION OF SHOCK ABSORBERS  MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CONDITION OF NUMBER PLATES  MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TAXI SIGN      SEE APPENDIX D 
 
UNDER THE BONNET 
 
BATTERY SECURITY    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WIRING SECURITY    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
UNDER BONNET (Cont.) 
 

21



BRAKE PIPES AND HOSES   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
OILANDFUEL LEAKS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
EMISSION OF SMOKE    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
BONNET OPERATION    SEE APPENDIX E 
EXHAUST MANIFOLD    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
FUEL SYSTEM     SEE APPENDIX F 
 
UNDER THE VEHICLE 
 
STEERING MECHANISM    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
POWER STEERING    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION SHAFTS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
STUB AXLE ASSEMBLIES   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WHEEL BEARING     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SUSPENSION     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SHOCK ABSORBERS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE CONDITION   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE CONDITION    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
EXHAUST SYSTEM    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION MOUNTINGS   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
ENGINE MOUNTINGS    MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
UNDER BODY 
 
CHASSIS      MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WHEELS AND TYRES    MOTREGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
TYRE TYPE      MOTREGUALTIONS  (C & U)/APPENDIX G 
TYRE CONDITION     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TYRE TREAD     SEE APPENDIX H 
ROAD WHEELS     MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS  SEE APPENDIX I 
 
BRAKES TEST  
 
SERVICE BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE BALANCE   MOTREGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
FLOOR AND CARPET    SEE APPENDIX J 
SEATS      SEE APPENDIX K 
INTERIOR (GENERAL)    SEE APPENDIX L 
CONDITION OF BODY    SEE APPENDIX M 
TRAILERS      SEE APPENDIX N 
ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS SEE APPENDIX O 
FOR PASSENGERS WITH DISABILITIES 
 

22



 
COMPLIANCE TEST EXPLANATION SHEET - HACKNEY CARRIAGE 
 
APPENDIX A – FIRE EXTINGUISHERS 
 
Must be fixed in such a position as to be readily available for use.  The extinguisher must be 
manufactured to meet the requirements of BS EN3 1996. 
 
APPENDIX B – PASSENGER DOORS WARNING SYSTEM 
 
The drivers control panel warning lights are working, and the passenger doors safety locking 
system is fully operational. All doors shall lock when the foot brake is applied or the speed is in 
excess of 5 mph. 
 
APPENDIX C – LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The front luggage space must be empty, clean and be available for use. 
 
APPENDIX D – TAXI SIGN 
 
A “Taxi” sign of an approved pattern, clearly visible both by day and night when the cab is 
available for hire, must be fitted and be operational. 
 
APPENDIX E – BONNET OPERATION 
 
The bonnet opens and closes properly and is fitted with a working safety catch. 
 
APPENDIX F – FUEL SYSTEM 
 
A device must be provided whereby the supply of fuel to the engine may be immediately cut off.  
Its situation together with the means of operation and “off” position must be clearly marked on 
the outside of the vehicle.  In the case of an engine powered by gas or petrol, the device must 
be visible and readily accessible at all times from outside the vehicle. 
 
APPENDIX G – TYRE TYPE 
 
All types must comply with the requirements of C & U regulations and be marked ‘Taxi’.  
Retread tyres must also comply with the British Standards Institution requirement BS.AU144E 
as amended. 
 
APPENDIX H – TYRE TREAD 
 
The minimum accepted tyre tread will be 2mm 
 
APPENDIX I – UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS 
 
The vehicle should be submitted for inspection in a clean condition to enable the vehicle 
inspector to carry out a full and proper inspection and examine all necessary components 
 
 

23



 
APPENDIX J – FLOOR COVERING 
 
The flooring of the passenger compartment must be covered with a non-slip material, which can 
be easily cleaned.  The floor covering shall be completed and free from cuts, tears, or serious 
staining. 
 
APPENDIX K - SEATS 
 
All seats, including the drivers, must be free from cuts, tears or cigarette burns, except of a very 
minor nature.  Any repairs must have been carried out in a professional and neat manner.  All 
seats, including the drivers, must be free of serious staining. 
 
APPENDIX L – INTERIOR (GENERAL) 
 
All interior trim, including headlining, door panels and speakers shall be clean, complete, 
properly fitted and free from serious cuts, tears or major soiling. Door handles and window 
winders shall be secure and operational.  
 
All fittings should be secured in a manner that prevents sharp edges or other hazards protruding 
into the passenger carrying area. 
 
APPENDIX M – CONDITION OF BODYWORK 
 
RUST Any vehicle presented should be free from significant areas of visible 

rusting.  Although minor blemishes will not normally constitute a failure, the 
following general criteria should be followed.  Any vehicle with three or 
more visible rust patches larger than 50sq cms each should be failed. Any 
vehicle with five or more rust patches each smaller than 20sq cms on any 
one panel should be failed. 

 
DENTS Any vehicle with minor dents on three or more panels where such dents are 

more than 5 cms in diameter/length should be failed. 
 
SCRATCHES Any vehicle with unrepaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more 

panels of 5cms in length, or a single scratch of more than 20cms in length 
should be failed. 

 
PAINTWORK Any vehicle with panels painted in non-matching colours, or painted in 

primer, should be failed. 
 
ROOF Any vehicle with significant damage to, or unsecured, vinyl roof  
COVERING covering should be failed. 
 
ACCIDENT   Any vehicle with unrepaired bodywork damage should be failed. 
DAMAGE 
 
 
 
 

24



 
APPENDIX N – TRAILERS 
 
There is an appropriate attachment between the trailer and vehicle with all electrical 
connections in place. 
 
The tyres have legal tread depth, the lights are all in working order, and there is a working 
overrun braking system. 
 
The trailer body is in good condition, it is fitted with a rear number plate the same as the vehicle 
it is to be towed by, and there is a warning triangle in place 
 
APPENDIX O – ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS FOR PASSENGERS WITH 
      DISABILITIES 
 
Access ramps and hoists are fitted properly, available for use and in good working order. 
 
Wheelchair clamps and harnesses are fitted properly, available for use and in good working 
order. 
 
Fittings and fitments to be tested using a wheel chair. Any that cannot be used should be failed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



APPENDIX 3 
 
COMPLIANCE TEST REQUIREMENTS – PRIVATE HIRE 
 
ITEM       STANDARD REQUIRED 
 
CAB ITEMS 
 
STEERING CONTROLS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
FOOT BRAKE PEDAL    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CLUTCH PEDAL     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HAND BRAKE LEVER    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WIPERS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WASHERS   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HORN       MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SPEEDOMETER     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CONDITION OF WINDSCREEN   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PANEL LIGHT AND GAUGES   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INTERIOR LIGHTS     SEE APPENDIX A 
INDICATORS & WARNING LAMP  MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
DRIVERS SEAT     MOT REGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
DRIVING MIRRORS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SEAT BELTS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
FIRE EXTINGUISHER    SEE APPENDIX B 
DRIVER AND PASSENGER FOOTWELLS SEE APPENDIX C 
POSITION OF RADIO    SEE APPENDIX C 
 
GROUND LEVEL ITEMS 
 
DOOR GLASS, LOCKS & HINGES  INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-WORKING 
CHECK STRAPS AND TRIMS   INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-WORKING 
LEG ROOM, HEAD HEIGHT AND          SEE APPENDIX D 
SEATING DIMENSIONS SEE APPENDIX D 
HEATING      INTACT-WORKING 
PASSENGER LIGHTING    INTACT-WORKING 
FRONT LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HEAD LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HEAD LAMP ALIGNMENT    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
STOP LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REAR LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REVERSING/FOG LAMPS   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REAR REFLECTORS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
NUMBER PLATE LAMPS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INDICATORS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SPARE WHEEL & TYRE    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS   SEE APPENDIX E 
EXTERIOR MIRRORS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
OPERATION OF SHOCK ABSORBERS  MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CONDITION OF NUMBER PLATES  MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
 
 

38



UNDER THE BONNET 
 
BATTERY SECURITY    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WIRING SECURITY    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
BRAKE PIPES AND HOSES   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
OIL AND FUEL LEAKS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U 
EMISSION OF SMOKE  SEE APPENDIX F 
BONNET OPERATION    SEE APPENDIXG 
EXHAUST MANIFOLD    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
UNDER THE VEHICLE 
 
STEERING MECHANISM    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
POWER STEERING    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION SHAFTS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
STUB AXLE ASSEMBLIES   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WHEEL BEARING     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SUSPENSION     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SHOCK ABSORBERS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE CONDITION   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE CONDITION    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
EXHAUST SYSTEM    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION MOUNTINGS   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
ENGINE MOUNTINGS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
UNDER BODY 
 
CHASSIS      MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WHEELS AND TYRES    MOT REGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
TYRE TREAD     SEE APPENDIX H 
TYRE TYPE      MOT REGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
TYRE CONDITION     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
ROAD WHEELS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS  SEE APPENDIX I 
 
BRAKES TEST  
 
SERVICE BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE BALANCE   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
FLOOR AND CARPET    SEE APPENDIXJ 
       
INTERIOR (GENERAL)    SEE APPENDIXK 
CONDITION OF BODY    SEE APPENDIX L 
TRAILERS      SEE APPENDIX M 
ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS SEE APPENDIX N 
FOR PASSENGERS WITH DISABILITIES     
GAS CONVERSIONS HYBRIDS AND ENGINES SIZE SEE APPENDIX O    
COMPLIANCE TEST EXPLANATION SHEET - PRIVATE HIRE 
 

39



 
APPENDIX A - INTERIOR LIGHTING 
 
Must be sufficient to allow passengers to get in and out of the vehicle safely, and to assist 
passenger to handle money etc. 
   
 
APPENDIX B – FIRE EXTINGUISHERS 
 
To be fixed in position using a bracket and not carried loose in the car or boot and be readily 
available for use. Extinguisher must be manufactured to meet the requirements of BSEN3 1996. 
 
APPENDIX C – DRIVER & PASSENGER FOOTWELL/RADIO POSITION 
 
Both the driver and passenger footwells must be kept free of obstructions. The private hire 
radio, if fitted, must be fixed in a position outside of the footwell. If located under the driver or 
passenger seat it must be fixed into position so that it does not slide into the footwell on braking. 
 
APPENDIX D– LEG ROOM, HEAD HEIGHT AND SEAT DIMENSIONS 
 
No vehicle shall be licensed unless it has: 
 
i. A minimum of 5 seats (4 passengers). Vehicles of a larger size and capacity may be 

presented for private hire licensing and if deemed suitable,  can be licensed for more 
than four passengers but in any event, no more than 8 passengers. 

 
ii. Internal width of seats when measured across the rear seats at shoulder height of not 

less than 51.6 inches(131cm). Each passenger seat a minimum 43.5cm wide. 
 

iii. A minimum height of not less than 51(130cm) inches and has four or five doors.  
 

iv. There is a minimum distance between the back of the front seats and the front edge of 
the rear seat cushion of not less than 6 (15.24cm) inches when measured horizontally at 
cushion height. 

 
v. All seats, including the drivers, must be free from cuts, tears or cigarette burns, except of 

a very minor nature.  Any repairs must have been carried out in a professional and neat 
manner.  All seats, including the drivers, must be free of serious staining.  

 
vi. Seat covers when fitted must not impede the operation of air bags. 

 
vii. All seats should be secure and backrests should be capable of being secured in the 

upright position 
 
APPENDIX E – LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The boot must be empty, clean and available for use. 
 
APPENDIX F – EMISSIONS 
 
To comply with Euro 3 standards for petrol engines and Euro 3 smoke test for diesel engines. 
 

40



APPENDIX G – BONNET OPERATION 
 
The bonnet opens and closes properly and is fitted with a working safety catch. 
 
APPENDIX H – TYRE TREAD 
 
The minimum accepted tyre tread will be 2mm 
 
APPENDIX I – UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS 
 
The vehicle should be submitted for inspection in a clean condition to enable the vehicle 
inspector to carry out a full and proper inspection and examine all necessary components 
 
APPENDIX J – FLOOR COVERING 
 
The floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, tears, or serious staining. 
 
 
APPENDIX K– INTERIOR (GENERAL) 
 
All interior trim, including headlining, door panels and speakers shall be clean, complete, 
properly fitted and free from serious cuts, tears or major soiling. Door handles and widow 
winders shall be secure and operational. All fittings should be secured in a manner that 
prevents sharp edges or other hazards protruding into the passenger carrying areas. 
 
 
 
APPENDIX L– CONDITION OF BODYWORK 
 
RUST Any vehicle presented should be free from significant areas of visible 

rusting.  Although minor blemishes will not normally constitute a failure, the 
following general criteria should be followed.  Any vehicle with three or 
more visible rust patches larger than 50sq cms each should be failed.  Any 
vehicle with five or more rust patches each smaller than 20sq cms on any 
one panel should be failed. 

 
DENTS Any vehicle with minor dents on three or more panels where such dents are 

more than 5 cms in diameter/length should be failed. 
 
SCRATCHES  Any vehicle with unrepaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more 

panels of 5cms in length should be failed. 
 
PAINTWORK Any vehicle with panels painted in non-matching colours, or painted in 

primer, should be failed. 
 
ROOF Any vehicle with significant damage to, or unsecured, vinyl roof covering  
COVERING should be failed. 
 
ACCIDENT   Any vehicle with unrepaired bodywork damage should be failed. 
DAMAGE 
 
 

41



APPENDIX M – TRAILERS 
 
There is an appropriate attachment between the trailer and vehicle with all electrical 
connections in place.  
 
The tyres have legal tread depth, the lights are all in working order, and there is a working 
overrun braking system 
 
The trailer body is in good condition, it is fitted with a rear number plate the same as the vehicle 
it is to be towed by, and there is a warning triangle in place. 
 
 
APPENDIX N– ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS FOR PASSENGERS WITH 
  DISABILITIES (if applicable) 
 
Access ramps and hoists are fitted properly, available for use and in good working order.  
 
Wheelchair clamps and harnesses are fitted properly, available for use and in good working 
order.  
 
Fittings and fitments to be tested using a wheelchair. Any that cannot be used should be failed. 
 
APPENDIX O –VEHICLE ENGINE SIZE AND POWER, GAS CONVERSIONS and HYBRID 
VEHICLES 
 
Engine sizes for both petrol and diesel vehicles must be at least 1600cc with at least the 
equivalent power conversions: Maximum net power (KW) 67 
    Brake horsepower (bhp)  90 
     Metric horsepower (DIN/PS) 91 
Authorised officers of Harlow Council Licensing Team must be consulted in any other 
circumstances. 
 
Gas conversion -Specific arrangements will be put in place depending on the nature of the 
conversion. These must be fitted and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
instructions. 
 
Hybrid vehicles – must be suitable for private hire use.  
 
In any case, the vehicle must be a family saloon or a hatchback type and must be clearly 
distinguishable from hackney carriages.  
 
MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS 
 
Vehicles may not have roof lights or display the words ‘taxi’ or ‘hackney carriage’. 
 
Door stickers must be permanently fixed and may not be fixed using magnets or other non-
permanent means. 
 
Tinted windows usually are not permitted unless these have been fitted at the point of 
manufacture of the vehicle. In any case, passengers in the rear of the vehicle must be visible 
from the outside of the vehicle. Authorised officers of Harlow Council Licensing Team must be 
consulted in any other circumstances. 
  

42



COMPLIANCE TEST REQUIREMENTS – HACKNEY CARRIAGE   
 
ITEM       STANDARD REQUIRED 
 
CAB ITEMS 
 
STEERING CONTROLS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
FOOT BRAKE PEDAL    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CLUTCH PEDAL     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HAND BRAKE LEVER    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WIPERS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WASHERS   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HORN       MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SPEEDOMETER     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CONDITION OF WINDSCREEN   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PANEL LIGHT AND GAUGES   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INTERIOR LIGHTS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INDICATORS & WARNING LAMP  MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
DRIVERS SEAT     MOT REGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
DRIVING MIRRORS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SEAT BELTS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
FIRE EXTINGUISHER    SEE APPENDIX A 
 
GROUND LEVEL ITEMS 
 
DOOR GLASS, LOCKS & HINGES  INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-WORKING 
CHECK STRAPS AND TRIMS   INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-WORKING 
COMMUNICATION WINDOW   INTACT-WORKING 
PASSENGER DOOR WARNING SYSTEM APPENDIX B 
SEATING DIMENSIONS MINIMUM OF 40CM WIDTH PER PASSENGER 
HEATING      INTACT-WORKING 
PASSENGER LIGHTING    INTACT-WORKING 
FRONT LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HEAD LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
HEAD LAMP ALIGNMENT    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
STOP LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REAR LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REVERSING/FOG LAMPS   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
REAR REFLECTORS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
NUMBER PLATE LAMPS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
INDICATORS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SPARE WHEEL & TYRE    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U)/APPENDIX G 
LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS   SEE APPENDIX C 
EXTERIOR MIRRORS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
OPERATION OF SHOCK ABSORBERS  MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
CONDITION OF NUMBER PLATES  MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TAXI SIGN      SEE APPENDIX D 
 
UNDER THE BONNET 
 
BATTERY SECURITY    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WIRING SECURITY    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
UNDER BONNET (Cont.) 

43



 
BRAKE PIPES AND HOSES   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
OIL AND FUEL LEAKS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
EMISSION OF SMOKE    To comply with Euro 3 emissions smoke test 
BONNET OPERATION    SEE APPENDIX E 
EXHAUST MANIFOLD    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
FUEL SYSTEM     SEE APPENDIX F 
 
UNDER THE VEHICLE 
 
STEERING MECHANISM    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
POWER STEERING    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION SHAFTS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
STUB AXLE ASSEMBLIES   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WHEEL BEARING     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SUSPENSION     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SHOCK ABSORBERS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
EXHAUST SYSTEM    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION MOUNTINGS   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
ENGINE MOUNTINGS    MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
UNDER BODY 
 
CHASSIS      MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
WHEELS AND TYRES    MOT REGUALTIONS  (C & U) 
TYRE TYPE      MOT REGUALTIONS  (C & U)/APPENDIX G 
TYRE CONDITION     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
TYRE TREAD     SEE APPENDIX H 
ROAD WHEELS     MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS  SEE APPENDIX I 
 
BRAKES TEST  
 
SERVICE BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE BALANCE   MOT REGULATIONS  (C & U) 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
FLOOR AND CARPET    SEE APPENDIX J 
SEATS      SEE APPENDIX K 
INTERIOR (GENERAL)    SEE APPENDIX L 
CONDITION OF BODY    SEE APPENDIX M 
TRAILERS      SEE APPENDIX N 
ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS SEE APPENDIX O 
FOR PASSENGERS WITH DISABILITIES 
 

44



 
COMPLIANCE TEST EXPLANATION SHEET - HACKNEY CARRIAGE 
 
APPENDIX A – FIRE EXTINGUISHERS 
 
Must be fixed in such a position as to be readily available for use.  The extinguisher must be 
manufactured to meet the requirements of BS EN3 1996. 
 
APPENDIX B – PASSENGER DOORS WARNING SYSTEM 
 
The drivers control panel warning lights are working, and the passenger doors safety locking 
system is fully operational. All doors shall lock when the foot brake is applied or the speed is in 
excess of 5 mph. 
 
APPENDIX C – LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The front luggage space must be empty, clean and be available for use. 
 
APPENDIX D – TAXI SIGN 
 
A “Taxi” sign of an approved pattern, clearly visible both by day and night when the cab is 
available for hire, must be fitted and be operational. 
 
APPENDIX E – BONNET OPERATION 
 
The bonnet opens and closes properly and is fitted with a working safety catch. 
 
APPENDIX F – FUEL SYSTEM 
 
A device must be provided whereby the supply of fuel to the engine may be immediately cut off.  
Its situation together with the means of operation and “off” position must be clearly marked on 
the outside of the vehicle.  In the case of an engine powered by gas or petrol, the device must 
be visible and readily accessible at all times from outside the vehicle. 
 
APPENDIX G – TYRE TYPE 
 
All types must comply with the requirements of C & U regulations and be marked ‘Taxi’.  
Retread tyres must also comply with the British Standards Institution requirement BS.AU144E 
as amended. 
 
APPENDIX H – TYRE TREAD 
 
The minimum accepted tyre tread will be 2mm 
 
APPENDIX I – UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS 
 
The vehicle should be submitted for inspection in a clean condition to enable the vehicle 
inspector to carry out a full and proper inspection and examine all necessary components 
 
 
 
APPENDIX J – FLOOR COVERING 
 

45



The flooring of the passenger compartment must be covered with a non-slip material, which can 
be easily cleaned.  The floor covering shall be completed and free from cuts, tears, or serious 
staining. 
 
APPENDIX K - SEATS 
 
All seats, including the drivers, must be free from cuts, tears or cigarette burns, except of a very 
minor nature.  Any repairs must have been carried out in a professional and neat manner.  All 
seats, including the drivers, must be free of serious staining. 
 
APPENDIX L – INTERIOR (GENERAL) 
 
All interior trim, including headlining, door panels and speakers shall be clean, complete, 
properly fitted and free from serious cuts, tears or major soiling. Door handles and window 
winders shall be secure and operational.  
 
All fittings should be secured in a manner that prevents sharp edges or other hazards protruding 
into the passenger carrying area. 
 
APPENDIX M – CONDITION OF BODYWORK 
 
RUST Any vehicle presented should be free from significant areas of visible 

rusting.  Although minor blemishes will not normally constitute a failure, the 
following general criteria should be followed.  Any vehicle with three or 
more visible rust patches larger than 50sq cms each should be failed. Any 
vehicle with five or more rust patches each smaller than 20sq cms on any 
one panel should be failed. 

 
DENTS Any vehicle with minor dents on three or more panels where such dents are 

more than 5 cms in diameter/length should be failed. 
 
SCRATCHES Any vehicle with unrepaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more 

panels of 5cms in length, or a single scratch of more than 20cms in length 
should be failed. 

 
PAINTWORK Any vehicle with panels painted in non-matching colours, or painted in 

primer, should be failed. 
 
ROOF Any vehicle with significant damage to, or unsecured, vinyl roof  
COVERING covering should be failed. 
 
ACCIDENT   Any vehicle with unrepaired bodywork damage should be failed. 
DAMAGE 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX N – TRAILERS 
 
There is an appropriate attachment between the trailer and vehicle with all electrical 
connections in place. 
 

46



The tyres have legal tread depth, the lights are all in working order, and there is a working 
overrun braking system. 
 
The trailer body is in good condition, it is fitted with a rear number plate the same as the vehicle 
it is to be towed by, and there is a warning triangle in place 
 
APPENDIX O – ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS FOR PASSENGERS WITH 
      DISABILITIES 
 
Access ramps and hoists are fitted properly, available for use and in good working order. 
 
Wheelchair clamps and harnesses are fitted properly, available for use and in good working 
order. 
 
Fittings and fitments to be tested using a wheel chair. Any that cannot be used should be failed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Committee Work Plan
	7 Control of Unauthorised Advertising: Update
	8 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Fee Proposals
	licensing fee proposals - appendix 1
	licensing fee proposals  - appendix 2

	9 Compliance Standard for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles Test Station Tender
	compliance standards - appendix 1
	compliance standards - appendix 2
	compliance standards - appendix 3


